
SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND LAESCYP 
MEETING

4.00 pm MONDAY, 27TH FEBRUARY, 2017
COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and 
using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to 

the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 
be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Summary of judgments in the Self Evaluation 
Report 
To consider the attached report 1 - 16

4. Key Stage 4 Standards 2015 to 2016 
To consider the attached report 17 - 26

5. Performance of Groups of Pupils in 2015 to 2016 
To consider the attached report 27 - 32

6. Performance Report - Corporate Plan. Priority 
Area 1 - Raising Standards of Attainment 
To consider the attached report 33 - 46

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 
To receive an update from the Chair

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

9. Scrutiny Work Programme 
To consider the attached report 47 - 64

10. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor L Mytton (Chair)

Councillors: S Williams, M Davies, D Jones, G Lewis, 
S Slater and C Tovey

Co-optees: C Brown, M Harris, R Lazell, A Rees and 
A Roberts

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Summary of judgments in the Self-Evaluation 
Report
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The local authority has a planned work programme for the Self–Evaluation Report 
(SER) in order to build up a profile of judgements, which is used to highlight any 
areas for improvement as well as come to an overall view on standards and 
performance.  

1.2 The purpose of the report is to provide the summary judgements for all the Key 
Questions in the SER.

1.3 The current judgment for outcomes is adequate and for prospects for improvement is 
good.  The target is to continue to improve provision and standards so that in the 
next academic year, the judgment is good for both outcomes and for prospects for 
improvement.  In addition, we are aiming for excellent in some service areas. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 the content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The local authority’s Self-Evaluation Report (SER) for LAESCYP services is being 
reviewed and updated to ensure that the judgements and actions will continue to 
bring about improved outcomes for all learners.  At the heart of self-evaluation are 
three questions: 
 How well are we doing? 
 How do we know? 
 How can we improve things further? 

Date Written 19th January 2017
Report Author Dorothy Haines
Service Area Learning
Committee Date 27th February 2017

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 In December 2015, Estyn concluded that the local authority had made generally 
strong progress against the eight recommendations since the 2012 inspection. As a 
result, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales considered 
that the authority no longer required special measures and removed it from follow-up 
activity. The authority made strong progress in addressing six of the eight 
recommendations and satisfactory progress against the remaining two.
(Recommendations 3 and 6) see appendix one

4.2 Estyn judged that ‘the latest self-evaluation report is an accurate and honest 
evaluation of the education service’s work.  It helps ensure a clearer corporate 
understanding of the strengths and areas for improvement in the education service’.  

4.3 Estyn noted the local authority’s strengths and the key areas for improvement 
including attendance rates in the primary sector and meeting the needs of pupils with 
additional learning needs and vulnerable groups.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 The learning department has a planned work programme in order to build up a 
profile of judgements, which are used to highlight any areas for improvement as well 
as come to an overall view on standards and performance.  The information 
collected informs the local authority’s delivery plans for improving the quality of 
provision and learner outcomes.  

 Key actions have been taken to address the key areas for improvement noted 
by Estyn – see appendix two.

 The summary of the judgements against each Key Question are set out in 
Appendix three. 

5.2 A key element in the drive for continued improvement is monitoring, support, 
challenge and intervention for the learning services through 

 the Education Senior Leadership Team monthly meetings to develop and review 
strategy and improvement plans, and to self-evaluate the impact of the actions

 LAESCYP monitoring group monthly meetings – see appendix four
 LAESCYP and learning scrutiny committee
 Termly visits by Estyn Local Authority Link inspectors

5.3 Outcomes
The current judgment for outcomes in 2016 is adequate. See appendix five
Although standards in all key stages have improved consistently over four years 
some outcomes at key stage 4 remain low including

 Level 2 threshold inclusive (equivalent to 5 GCSEs A*- C including 
English/Welsh and mathematics) 53.9% compared to the Welsh average of 
60.3% and ranked 19th 

 Core Subject Indicator (CSI) 52.3% compared to the Welsh average of 57.6% 
and ranked 18th

Page 2



 5+ A*-A or equivalent 11.9% compared to the Welsh average of 15.9% and 
ranked 18th

In addition, value added from key stage 2 to key stage 4 is good overall but is not 
consistently good across all schools. (Value added is the measurement of the 
progress made by pupils between one stage of education to the next) 

The judgement for outcomes overall is no better than adequate because the rates of 
attendance rates remain too low. 

5.4 Rates of attendance
In 2015/16 

 Primary attendance was 94.2% (22) compared to the Wales average of 94.9%. In 
14/15 attendance was 94.3% (22) 

 Secondary attendance was 93.4% (19) compared to the Wales average of 
94.2%. In 14/15 attendance was 93.1% (20) 

There are strengths in some aspects. 

 The percentage of persistent absenteeism in both secondary and primary 
schools continues to fall. In the secondary schools, this fell from 5.1% in 2014/15 
to 4.5% in 2015/16 although still higher than the Wales average 3.9%. In the 
primary schools, this fell from 1.5% in 2014/15 to 0.94% in 2015/16. (Wales 
average 1.5%) 

 Rates of attendance for Children Looked After (CLA) remain high. The 
attendance rate in 2015/16 in secondary schools was 97.1% and 96.6% for 
primary schools

(These figures do not include the attendance of pupils from Merthyr Tydfil attending 
schools out of the county borough.)
 Rates of attendance for Gypsy Traveller pupils has improved since 2013/14 from 

74.6% to 87.5% in 2015/16
 There is a negligible difference between the rates of attendance for boys and 

girls  with a gap of 0.1% in primary schools compared to the Welsh average of 
0.2%

A number of schools have implemented effective strategies and improved rates of 
attendance significantly during 2015/16 including Abercanaid, Bedlinog, Gellifaelog, 
Goetre, Heolgerrig, Troedyrhiw Primary schools and Pen Y Dre High School. Good 
practice is shared with schools on a regular basis and a number of strategies have 
had a positive impact on attendance – see appendix six

5.5 Prospects for improvement
The current judgment for prospects for improvement is good. The local authority has 
been effective in improving outcomes by

 focusing unrelentingly on learner performance and on tackling underperformance
 developing the skills of head teachers and governors – see appendix seven
 facilitating schools working together with increasing collective 

responsibility/accountability for the learning of all children and young people in 
the area.

Page 3



PLEASE NOTE: Further detailed analysis of KS4 Standards and of the Performance 
of Groups of Vulnerable Pupils is provided in the accompanying reports presented to 
LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee on 27th February 2017. 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 Plans are focused on continuing to improve provision and standards so that the 
judgment is good for outcomes and for capacity to improve. In addition, we are 
aiming for excellent in some service areas. The LA’s ambition is to be ranked in the 
top 10 performing local authorities by July 2017.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 The main priority is to improve overall rates of attendance by
 Continuing to work closely with schools where attendance is low
 Reviewing current strategies with head teachers and governors to ensure they 

are implemented well and sufficient resources are allocated. This would include 
early intervention and additional support measures for those struggling with 
regular attendance including curriculum adjustments or personal education 
plans. 

 Promoting and facilitating cluster approaches e.g. joint letter to parents 
 Identifying effective strategies – regionally, nationally and  internationally
 Identifying specific approaches to improving parental engagement and support of 

attendance including listening to the views of parents

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 Accurate self-evaluation and effective improvement planning contributes 
substantially to the capacity to achieve the corporate priority of raising standards of 
attainment.

DOROTHY HAINES
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING)

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Estyn monitoring of 
education services
for children and young 
people
Report to Council

23rd March 2016

Estyn monitoring 
inspection report 

December 2016

Reports to Learning and 
LAESCYP scrutiny on 
the self-evaluation 
report

31st October 2016
5th December 2016
23rd January 2017

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 4



Appendix one:  Recommendations from the Estyn inspection 2012

R1 Secure better outcomes for learners at all key stages and analyse and use performance 
data to identify and address underperformance.

R2 Strengthen the level of challenge to schools and use the full powers available to the 
authority to improve leadership and management in underperforming schools.

R3 Devise and apply better strategies to reduce the number of young people not in 
education, employment or training and build upon existing strategies to reduce the number 
excluded from school and improve pupil attendance rates, especially in primary schools.

R4 Develop a robust self-evaluation framework for the work of the local authority’s 
education services and introduce appropriate and challenging performance targets that 
drive improvement.

R5 Develop a more rigorous scrutiny framework, supported by data analysis, to challenge 
the education services.

R6 Ensure that data on the needs and attainment of all pupils with additional learning 
needs, and of vulnerable groups, is used at a strategic level to identify specific issues and 
trends that inform service planning.

R7 Evaluate the impact of Youth Support Services in order to adjust the provision and 
rebalance resource allocation where necessary.

R8 Develop and implement systems to judge whether initiatives and services have a 
positive impact on children and offer good value for money.

Page 5



Appendix two: Key actions to address the key areas for improvement noted by Estyn 

 Improve attendance rates by
o developing further the strategic role of the Challenge Adviser in reviewing the 

attendance rates and the impact on attainment
o providing more detailed analysis for head teachers and governors on the 

attendance of groups of pupils and year groups so schools can target resources 
more effectively

o providing additional guidance on key issues of absence through illness and 
persistent absentees; and

o holding schools to account through LA case conferences for low attendance rates

 Improve provision and services to meet the needs of all pupils with additional 
learning needs by
o Reviewing provision for pupils with ALN and implementing plans to ensure 

provision meets identified needs; and
o monitoring and evaluating systematically all ALN services provided for, or 

commissioned by, the authority

 Improve the performance of groups of pupils by
o producing for each school an overview of the comparative performance of their 

vulnerable groups. 
o working in partnership with CSC on key projects to improve the performance of 

pupils e-FSM; and
o working in partnership with all schools to develop good practice guidance in 

meeting the learning needs of pupils able to achieve above average outcomes

 Improvements have been made in the services and provision for pupils with 
additional learning needs and vulnerable pupils. 

Page 6



Appendix three: Summary Position Statement January 2017

KEY QUESTION JUDGEMENT
November 

2015

JUDGEMENT
January

 2017

TARGET 
September 

2017
1. Outcomes Adequate Adequate Good

2. Provision Good Good Good

3. Leadership and Management Adequate Good Good

KEY QUESTION JUDGEMENT
November 

2015

JUDGEMENT
January

 2017

TARGET 
September 

2017
1.1 Standards Adequate Adequate Good

1.2 Wellbeing Adequate Adequate Good

2.1 Support for School Improvement Good Good Excellent

2.2 Support for Additional Learning 
Needs

Adequate Adequate Good

2.3 Promoting Social Inclusion and 
Well Being

Good Good Good

2.4 Access and School Places Good Good Good

3.1 Impact of Leadership  Adequate Good Good

3.2 Improving Quality Good Good Good

3.3 Partnership Working Adequate Adequate Good

3.4 Resource Management Good Good Excellent

KQ 1.1 STANDARDS 
The judgement for standards is adequate because there have been sustained 
improvements over the last four years and the strengths outweigh the areas for 
improvement. Performance against headline attainment indicators for key stages is above 
expected levels when a range of contextual information is taken into account and in 2016 
outcomes were above the Welsh average in number of areas including Foundation Phase 
Outcome Indicator (FPOI) and key stage 2 Core Subject Indicator (CSI). The number of 
NEETS is very low. 

Standards are not yet good as attainment and progress for some groups of pupils, 
including Children Looked After and pupils eligible for Free School Meals, and at key stage 
4 should be greater.

Priorities for improvement 
Improve outcomes for vulnerable groups of pupils

Page 7



KQ 1.1 WELLBEING 
The judgement for wellbeing is adequate because while there are many strengths, the rate 
of attendance requires significant improvement. School inspection reports indicate that 
learners exhibit good standards of behaviour, and that they are involved well in decisions 
about their life in the authority’s schools or maintained settings. The youth service has a 
good reach and young people participate well in youth service activities. The evidence from 
data is that there is good take-up of programmes of physical activity. Exclusion levels are 
low. 

Wellbeing is not yet good because school attendance rates are below expected levels

Priorities for improvement 
 Improve attendance 
 Enable schools to improve levels of parental engagement by further identifying and 

sharing good practice. 
 Ensure that pupil voice influences service delivery and future planning 

KQ 2.1 SUPPORT FOR SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT 
The judgement for support for school improvement is good because there have been 
sustained improvements over the last four years with standards for pupils good or better in 
many areas. The local authority provides effective and appropriate monitoring, support, 
challenge and intervention for all schools, including special schools. These arrangements 
are clear and agreed and understood by schools. Data and first-hand evidence are used 
well to target a range of support for schools which results in improved curriculum and better 
outcomes for children and young people. Only one school is identified by the inspectorate 
as causing concern. The local authority regularly and robustly identifies the development 
needs of governors, senior and middle managers. A good range and quality of training and 
support is available.

School improvement is not yet excellent because the support for school leadership and 
governance has not resulted in all schools being categorised as green or yellow and their 
capacity to improve as ‘A’ or ‘B’.

Priorities for improvement 
 Develop strategies to secure excellent leadership across all schools 
 Develop strategies to ensure governance in all schools is good or better 

KQ 2.2 SUPPORT FOR ADDITIONAL LEARNING NEEDS
The judgement for support for additional learning needs is adequate because  the 
strengths outweigh the areas for improvement. The authority uses data effectively to track 
pupils’ progress and to plan services strategically and we provide appropriate support and 
challenge for schools. Strategic plans to develop the capacity of schools to identify and 
meet pupils’ needs are based on good practice and led by the outstanding special school. 
The support is well received by schools and having a positive impact on provision. There 
are good continuation of services and effective transition support to help children and young 
people move between different stages of learning.

Support for additional learning needs is not yet good because there needs to be further 
improvements made to local authority services and school provision, and evidence of 
sustained improvements in learner outcomes.

Page 8



Priorities for improvement
 Complete the improvements in local authority ALN services 
 Implement the changes in provision across the county 

KQ 2.3 PROMOTING SOCIAL INCLUSION AND WELL BEING
The judgement for promoting social inclusion and wellbeing is good because permanent 
exclusions are rare and the time lost through fixed-term exclusions is reducing. Excluded 
pupils are swiftly provided with alternative high quality full-time education. Different services 
work well together across the local authority to provide seamless and timely services and 
support for schools, pupils and parents. Youth support services and personal support are 
effective in ensuring children’s and young people’s wellbeing. Due to a focus on early 
intervention and preventative measures social inclusion and wellbeing has improved over 
recent years. There is good provision of services around safeguarding, sports, the arts and 
healthy eating. 

Support for additional learning needs is not yet excellent because although school 
attendance rates for the local authority are improving they are not above national 
benchmarks.

Priorities for improvement 
 Improve levels of wellbeing for all pupils - mental, emotional and physical.
 Improve attendance

KQ 2.4 ACCESS AND SCHOOL PLACES
The current judgment for access and school places is good because overall there is 
currently enough capacity across the local authority’s schools with surplus places reducing 
significantly over time as a result of effective planning. Strategic long term plans are in 
place to improve the conditions of buildings through new schools and refurbishment 
projects. Admission arrangements are clear, transparent, well-communicated, and 
processes are increasingly efficient,. Most parents are allocated their first preference school 
and children moving into the authority are accommodated without delay in a school that 
meets their needs. The local authority manages nursery admissions well. Overall, there is 
an appropriate range of early years, play and youth support services provision which meets 
the needs and children, young people and their families. 

Access and school places is not yet excellent because manged moves and in-year 
transfers need to be dealt with more quickly and equitably and improvements made in the 
provision of nursery places and welsh medium education can

Priorities for improvement 
 Modernise admissions systems
 Ensure the smooth implementation of the plans for 21st century buildings 

programme, capital maintenance works in schools and provision for nursery and 
welsh medium education

KQ 3.1 IMPACT OF LEADERSHIP 
The judgement for the impact of leadership is good because leadership in the local 
authority has been successful in making and sustaining improvements over the last four 
years with standards good or better in many areas. All officers and elected members share 
a common vision, values and purpose. Corporate management, committee structures and 
business systems support high standards of business delivery across the whole of the 
authority’s work. Leaders communicate high expectations for securing improvement and 

Page 9



challenge schools positively to good effect. Policies and initiatives are implemented 
consistently. Officers and elected members use relevant management information about 
performance to address issues of underperformance and to set objectives and targets that 
are strategic priorities. Progress against the authority’s priorities is monitored and the 
outcomes for schools are generally good and improving strongly. Elected members show 
determination in challenging and supporting services and taking difficult decisions to bring 
about necessary improvements.

The impact of leadership is not yet excellent because service delivery and provision for 
pupils with Additional Learning Needs and partnership working with strategic partners such 
as the Public Service Board, Health, etc. could have a greater impact on improving 
provision and outcomes.

Priorities for improvement 
 Ensure multi-agency collaboration through the Public Service Board is effective in 

identifying and unblocking barriers to improvement and in holding statutory 
partnerships to account

 Further improve provision that meets local needs for Welsh language, nursery/early 
years, and pupils with Additional Learning Needs

 Make plans for greater involvement of communities and individuals with an interest in 
school improvement and education, including the voice of pupils.

 Focus on preventative action and services 

KQ 3.2 IMPROVING QUALITY (Self-evaluation and improvement planning) 
The judgement for improving quality is good, resulting in better provision and improved 
standards and wellbeing for the majority of learners across the authority. Leaders, 
managers and elected members have an accurate picture and understanding of the 
authority’s strengths and weaknesses. They routinely make good use of a range of rigorous 
monitoring activities. Performance data is consistently used to monitor progress and plan 
for improvement. There is a sustained focus on achieving progress against the authority’s 
priorities. A well-established professional learning community within schools from across 
the authority enables schools to develop and share their professional knowledge. There are 
effective networks of professional practice with other authorities and their partners. The 
authority has maintained at least good standards or improved standards and provision 
since the last inspection. 

Improving quality is not yet excellent because the local authority needs to be more 
proactive in seeking, and responding to, the views of, parents or carers, pupils and the 
broader community 

Priorities for improvement 
 Engage and listen to the views of pupils, parents/carers and community groups
 Commission external and peer reviews

KQ 3.3 PARTNERSHIP WORKING
The judgement for partnership working is adequate because the positive impact on young 
people is not consistent. A number of partnerships have been successful including school 
to school partnerships, partnership working with the Central South Consortium, multi-
agency groups for young people NEET and youth services.   

Partnership working is not yet good because there are some partnerships that are 
underdeveloped including those being developed through the Public Service Baird. 

Page 10



Priorities for improvement 
 Collaborate with other LAs to ensure effective, efficient and economical services.
 Ensure that the views of children, young people and their families are used to 

inform service delivery in all areas

KQ 3.4 RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
The judgement for resources management is good because staffing, accommodation and 
financial resources are managed and deployed effectively to support learning and 
improvement. The authority reviews the outcomes of its financial plans to make sure that 
money is spent wisely and has a positive impact on standards. The authority’s spending 
decisions relate well to strategic priorities for improvement and benefits for schools and 
their learners. Partnership activity provides good value for money because it contributes to 
improved outcomes for learners in aspects which the authority and its schools alone could 
not provide. Overall, standards and the quality of provision are good. 

Resources management is not yet excellent because there needs to be sustained impact 
on outcomes for learners.

Priorities for improvement 
 Continue to deliver high quality services that impact positively on outcomes within 

a reducing budget allocation

Page 11



Appendix four: LAESCYP monitoring group terms of reference

The purpose of the group is to
 review progress against the Local Authority Education Services for Children and 

Young People (LAESCYP) Inspection Framework
 prepare for challenge sessions with Estyn and Scrutiny
 ensure that all of the authority’s education functions are performed well

The Group provides the opportunity to monitor regularly and robustly, outcomes and 
progress against targets so that

 changes are made where necessary to support and sustain improvements
 areas of good practice are highlighted and disseminated

Membership of the Group
 Chief Education Office (Chair)
 Chief Executive
 S151 Officer
 Head of legal and HR
 Performance team representatives
 Head of Community Wellbeing
 Education Senior Leadership Team

Page 12



Appendix five: Outcomes 2016

MTCBC WALES
Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 89.1% 5th 87.0%
Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator 89.2% 10th 88.6%
Key Stage 3 Core Subject Indicator 87.0% 10th 85.9%
Level 1 95.4% 10th 95.3%
Level 2 84.5% 11th 84.0%
Level 2 plus 53.9% 19th 60.3%

Estyn inspections in 2015/2016 and 2016/2017
 Three primary schools were inspected and all were judged good or better for 

outcomes and for prospects for improvement Cyfarthfa Primary, Dowlais and 
Ysgol Santes Tudful

 Three secondary schools were made good progress in respect of the key issues 
for action and were removed from Estyn monitoring in October 2016

 Goetre Primary is in need of Significant Improvement. The monitoring  inspection 
is taking place on 24th and 25th January 2017

 No other schools in  category of concern

Categorisation of school support 2016
There has been an improvement in the schools’ standards groups and in the capacity of the 
school to improve alongside a reduction in the level of support required for schools (as per 
the National Categorisation model). Twelve out of 26 schools are in standards group 1 and 
a further seven are in standards group 2.  Only four schools are in receipt of an amber level 
of support while 24 of the schools are judged to be in group A or B for capacity to improve.

Page 13



Appendix six: Effective strategies for improving attendance

 Attendance as a priority in the School Improvement Plan 
 A designated member of staff responsible for attendance
 Carrying out timely First Day Response actions 
 Agreeing an approach to the issuing of FPNs as a cluster of schools for consistency  
 Not authorising absences if dissatisfied with reason given, or when no reason is 

given for an absence, so that a FPN warning letter can be sent at the earliest 
opportunity

 Routinely requesting medical evidence 
 Challenging absences and setting expectations for return to school date
 Close monitoring and analysis of data
 Addressing absence at an earlier stage when attendance is between 90% to 95% 

rather than waiting for attendance to fall below 90% or below 85%
 Making home visits and inviting parents in to discuss attendance 
 Setting individual target plans for attendance to agree short but achievable actions 

with parents 
 Weekly awards for shorter periods for those harder to reach pupils and families
 Having increased levels of pupil engagement e.g. Pupil Attendance Champion 

and/or Committee 
 Having timetables for the end of term shared with pupils and parents
 Holding internal competitions e.g. between classes
 Ensuring that all staff are aware of their role in respect of attendance 
 Showing parents what their child’s attendance as a percentage equates to as days 

lost
 Sending  Callio type letters to parents 
 Increasing the involvement of  governors and  the PTA in attendance

Page 14



Appendix seven: Building capacity in schools

The consortium has invested heavily in leadership provision in the 2015/16 year. This has 
included opportunities to support another school with leadership capacity or coaching, 
leadership of school-to-school provision and direct leadership programmes.

 Four Headteachers have undertaken the New to Headship programme
 Two Headteachers have undertaken the Strategic Headship programme
 Six Headteachers have completed the Consultant Headship programme
 Three deputies on Future Leadership programme
 Two successful NPQH applicants
 A number of Heads are being funded to mentor other future leaders as part of 

building leadership capacity

Schools in Merthyr Tydfil are providing training and support to other schools across the 
region

 Cyfarthfa High School offering mathematics provision as part of the Hub programme
 Bishop Hedley High School as a Professional Learning Hub
 Troedyrhiw Primary School offering mathematics provision 
 Cyfarthfa Park Primary, Ysgol Gymraeg Rhyd Y Grug and Ysgol Gymraeg Santes 

Tudful offering leadership and Welsh language programmes
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

KEY STAGE 4 STANDARDS 2015 to 2016
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to update Scrutiny on the performance of schools at 
key stage 4 (KS4) in public external examinations 2015-16.

1.2 At KS4, the trend in performance is positive and attainment now compares more 
favourably with Welsh averages across all indicators. 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 the content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0 WHERE WE WERE

3.1 At the time of the last inspection in November 2012 at all key stages, standards for 
learners were unsatisfactory. In 2014-15 trends in attainment at KS4 were positive 
and standards improved across all key indicators and at a faster rate than the 
Welsh average (WA). Attainment compared more favourably with Welsh averages 
across all indicators.

4.0 CURRENT POSITION: WHERE ARE WE NOW 2015 to 2016

4.1 Two areas
 Local Authority Performance
 Individual school performance

Date Written 04th January 2017
Report Author Emma Strand
Service Area Learning
Committee Date 27th February 2017

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



4.2 Local Authority Performance

The rate of improvement since 2012 for the: 
 L1TH is 8.0% compared  to 3.5% across Wales 
 L2TH is 20.2% compared to 11.4% across Wales 
 L2TH+ is 21.4% compared to 9.2% across Wales 
 CSI is 20.6% compared to 8.7% across Wales.

Performance is above the national average for:
 Level 1 Threshold (L1TH), 
 Level 2 Threshold (L2TH) and, 
 Capped Points Score (CPS). 

Since 2015 attainment has risen in some indicators:
 by 2.0 percentage points at the Level 2 Threshold including English/Welsh and 

mathematics (L2TH+) (5 GCSEs A*-C or equivalent including English/Welsh 
and Mathematics) 

 by 3.4 percentage points at the Core Subject Indicator (CSI).

Since 2015 attainment has declined in some indicators:
 by 0.9 percentage points at the Level 2 Threshold (5 GCSEs A*-C or 

equivalent)
 by 1.4 percentage points at the Level 1 Threshold (5 GCSEs A*-G or 

equivalent)

For the last 2 years the LA has exceeded all national benchmarks (Key Stage 3 
Core Subject Indicator (KS3 CSI), L2TH+ and the CPS).  Attainment now 
compares more favourably with Welsh averages across all indicators. 

Table 1 Attainment over time

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Diff. from 
WA 2012

MT Wales MT Wales MT Wales MT Wales MT Wales 2012 2016

L1TH 87.4 91.8 92.7 93.2 95.4 94.0 96.8 94.4 95.4 95.3 -4.3 0.1

L2TH 64.3 72.6 73.0 77.8 82.0 82.3 85.4 84.1 84.5 84.0 -8.3 0.5

L2TH+ 32.5 51.1 38.7 52.7 48.9 55.4 51.9 57.9 53.9 60.3 -
18.6 -6.4

CSI 31.7 48.9 36.3 49.2 46.7 52.6 48.9 54.8 52.3 57.6 -
17.1 -5.3

CPS 300.8 323.5 322.0 333.1 339.7 340.8 343.8 343.5 345.7 344.6 -
22.7 1.1

Table 2 Rankings

Indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

L1TH 21 16 10 5 10

L2TH 20 19 17 11 11

Page 18



Indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

L2TH+ 22 22 21 21 19

CSI 22 21 21 20 18

CPS 21 18 14 12 13

Table 3 Performance compared to all Local Authorities and to the family of 
Local Authorities (Highlighted in pink)

L1
TH

L2
TH

L2
TH

+

C
SI

C
PS

Local Authority

% rank % rank % rank % rank Score rank

Merthyr Tydfil 95.4 10 84.5 11 53.9 19 52.3 18 345.7 13

Blaenau Gwent 93.0 22 71.4 22 48.2 22 40.6 22 318.1 22

Caerphilly 95.1 14 76.5 19 53.0 21 50.6 20 327.5 20

Cardiff 94.4 17 84.3 13 62.5 8 60.1 8 343.7 14

Neath Port Talbot 94.9 15 89.0 5 60.9 11 56.8 12 349.9 10

Rhondda Cynon Taf 96.7 3 90.3 2 56.6 16 55.1 15 351.2 9

Bridgend 95.4 11 88.0 6 61.7 9 60.0 9 351.6 8

Carmarthenshire 96.6 4 89.2 4 65.1 6 62.3 5 360.0 1

Ceredigion 96.1 6 91.4 1 70.3 1 69.2 1 358.5 2

Conwy 94.3 18 82.1 17 55.9 17 53.1 17 334.7 17

Denbighshire 93.7 20 83.6 14 58.7 14 56.5 13 340.4 16

Flintshire 95.3 13 82.6 16 61.5 10 58.8 10 343.3 15

Gwynedd 97.3 1 85.9 10 65.9 4 64.4 4 355.7 4

Isle of Anglesey 96.3 5 82.8 15 58.8 13 55.8 14 346.8 11

Monmouthshire 95.9 8 90.2 3 67.0 3 64.7 3 353.3 6

Newport 93.4 21 74.5 20 57.3 15 49.9 21 327.5 21

Pembrokeshire 95.9 9 84.5 12 59.3 12 57.1 11 346.3 12

Powys 96.1 7 86.6 9 65.3 5 61.9 7 353.3 5

Swansea 96.9 2 86.9 8 64.7 7 62.2 6 356.6 3

The Vale of 
Glamorgan 95.4 12 87.8 7 67.1 2 66.3 2 353.1 7

Torfaen 94.7 16 79.9 18 53.5 20 50.7 19 328.4 19

Wrexham 93.8 19 73.4 21 55.3 18 53.9 16 328.6 18

Page 19



4.3 Individual school performance
 Three out of four schools improved in all indicators
 Bishop Hedley high school declined in three out of five indicators.

When compared with similar schools (benchmarking of schools on the basis of 
free school meals) 
 All four schools are in quarter 2 for the L2TH+.
 All four schools are in the top quarter for L1TH
 Afon Taf High School has improved its benchmarked position in all indicators 

except L1TH which has remained in quarter 1.

Table 5 Level 2 inclusive benchmarking summary 

0.0

25.0

25.0

0.0

0.0

100.0

25.0

25.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

50.0

100.0

0.0 0.2 0.5 0.8 1.0

Level 2+ 
2016

Level 2+ 
2015

Level 2+ 
2014

Level 2+ 
2013

Level 2+ 
2012

1 (Upper Quarter) 2 (Median-UQ) 3 (LQ-Median) 4 (Lower Quarter)

Level 2+ Benchmarking LA Summary

Table 6 Benchmark Quarters

L1TH L2TH L2TH+ CSI

13/
14

14/
15

15/
16

12/
13

13/
14

15/
16

12/
13

13/
14

15/
16

12/
13

13/
14

15/
16

Afon Taf High 
School 2 1 1 2 2 1 2 3 2 1 3 2

Bishop Hedley 
High School 1 1 1 2 2 3 1 1 2 1 1 1

Cyfarthfa High 
School 3 1 1 3 2 2 3 2 2 4 2 2

Pen-y-Dre High 
School 2 1 1 2 3 2 3 3 2 3 4 2

A detailed summary of individual school performance can be found in appendix 1.

Page 20



5.0 AMBITION: WHERE WE WANT TO BE

5.1 Our ambition is to be ranked within the top 10 local authorities in Wales by 2016. 
As a result of the rate of progress the targets have been increased for 2015/16 
and 2016/17.

2014/15
LA Target

2015/16
LA Target

2016/17
LA Target

KS4 L1 97% 98% 99%
KS4 L2 85% 88% 92%
KS4 L2+ 52% 58% 62%
KS4 CSI 52% 57% 59%

6.0  WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

6.1 Priorities at Key stage 4
 Ensure schools continue to raise standards
 Improve percentage of pupils achieving above the expected levels
 Improve rates of attendance

7.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

7.1 Improving standards at Key stage 4 contributes substantially to the capacity to 
achieve the corporate priority of raising standards of attainment.

DOROTHY HAINES
CHIEF OFFICER
LEARNING

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 

LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in 
respect of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 21



Appendix 1 – School Performance

L1TH L2TH L2TH+ CSI CPS

2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016 2014 2015 2016

Afon Taf 
High 
School

97.6 99.4 100.0 84.1 89.3 95.3 51.2 48.2 58.1 51.2 47.0 56.1 338.8 349.1 355.8

Bishop 
Hedley 
High 
School

100.0 100.0 100.0 88.7 87.0 85.7 60.4 64.0 60.7 59.4 63.0 60.7 361.0 361.5 366.1

Cyfarthfa 
High 
School

95.7 99.5 100.0 83.4 92.1 94.4 52.1 60.2 61.6 50.2 60.2 60.3 352.1 366.4 383.7

Pen-y-Dre 
High 
School

95.9 99.1 100.0 77.7 78.3 88.7 33.9 39.1 52.6 27.3 25.2 48.5 328.3 327.9 345.4

MTCBC 95.4 96.8 95.4 82.0 85.4 84.5 48.9 51.9 53.9 46.7 48.9 52.3 339.7 343.8 345.7

Wales 94.0 94.4 95.3 82.3 84.1 84.0 55.4 57.9 60.3 52.6 54.8 57.6 340.8 343.5 344.6

AFON TAF HIGH SCHOOL

Contextual Information
The school has a free school meal percentage (FSM) of 23.5, which places it in the Over 
20% and up to and including 30% group for benchmarking purposes.
The school has 9.6 percent of pupils living in the 20% most deprived areas in Wales.

Performance over time

2015/16Indicator 2011/12
School

2012/13
School

2013/14
School

2014/15
School School LA Wales

3 year 
progress

L1TH 88.6 95.7 97.6 99.4 100 95.4 95.3 4.3

L2TH 58.1 71.9 84.1 89.3 95.3 84.5 84.0 23.4

L2TH+ 31.1 39.1 51.2 48.2 58.1 53.9 60.3 19.0

CSI 31.1 38.1 51.2 47.0 56.1 52.3 57.6 18.0

CPS 290.3 321.6 338.8 349.1 355.8 345.7 344.6 34.2

Benchmarking

Indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
L1TH 3 2 2 1 1

L2TH 3 3 2 2 1

L2TH+ 4 3 2 3 2

CSI 3 3 1 3 2

CPS 3 3 3 2 2

Page 22



Performance of groups of pupils- Gender

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16Indicator
Boys Girls Diff Boys Girls Diff Boys Girls Diff

L1TH 96.6 98.7 -2.1 98.8 100 -1.2 100 100 0

L2TH 84.1 84.2 -0.1 84.5 94.0 -9.5 94.3 96.7 -2.5

L2TH+ 51.1 51.3 -0.2 29.8 66.7 -36.9 60.9 54.1 6.8

CSI 51.1 51.3 -0.2 29.8 64.3 -34.5 58.6 52.5 6.2

CPS 332.3 346.3 -14.0 328.6 369.6 -41.0 349.1 365.5 -16.4

Performance of groups of pupils- FSM

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16Indicator
FSM Non 

FSM
Diff FSM Non 

FSM
Diff FSM Non 

FSM
Diff

L1TH 100.0 96.9 3.1 100.0 99.3 0.7 100 100 0

L2TH 66.7 88.5 -21.8 71.0 93.4 -22.5 85.7 97.5 -11.8

L2TH+ 24.2 58.0 -33.8 16.1 55.5 -39.3 46.4 60.8 -14.4

CSI 24.2 58.0 -33.8 12.9 54.7 -41.8 46.4 58.3 -11.9

CPS 307.7 346.6 -38.9 315.3 356.8 -41.5 334.5 360.8 -26.3

BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH SCHOOL

Contextual Information
The school has a free school meal percentage (FSM) of 21.7, which places it in the Over 
20% and up to and including 30% group for benchmarking purposes.
The school has 54.6 percent of pupils living in the 20% most deprived areas in Wales.

Performance over time

2015/16Indicator 2011/12
School

2012/13
School

2013/14
School

2014/15 
School School LA Wales

3 year 
progress

L1TH 96.9 99.1 100.0 100 100 95.4 95.3 0.9

L2TH 69.5 74.3 88.7 87.0 85.7 84.5 84.0 11.4

L2TH+ 28.1 36.2 60.4 64.0 60.7 53.9 60.3 24.5

CSI 28.1 35.2 59.4 63.0 60.7 52.3 57.6 25.5

CPS 323.6 340.0 361.0 361.5 366.1 345.7 344.6 26.1

Benchmarking

Indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
L1TH 1 1 1 1 1

L2TH 2 2 2 2 3

Page 23



Indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
L2TH+ 4 4 1 1 2

CSI 4 3 1 1 1

CPS 2 2 1 1 1

Performance of groups of pupils - Gender
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16Indicator

Boys Girls Diff Boys Girls Diff Boys Girls Diff
L1TH 100.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 100.0 0 100 100 0

L2TH 85.4 91.4 -6.0 87.2 86.9 0.3 91.4 81.6 9.8

L2TH+ 56.3 63.8 -7.5 66.7 62.3 4.4 57.1 63.3 -6.1

CSI 56.3 62.1 -5.8 64.1 62.3 1.8 57.1 63.3 -6.1

CPS 345.4 374.0 -28.6 352.0 367.7 -15.7 363.2 368.1 -4.9

Performance of groups of pupils - FSM
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16Indicator

FSM Non 
FSM

Diff FSM Non 
FSM

Diff FSM Non 
FSM

Diff

L1TH 100.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 100.0 0.0 100 100 0

L2TH 68.2 94.0 -25.8 87.5 86.8 0.7 72.7 87.7 -15

L2TH+ 40.9 65.5 -24.6 54.2 67.1 -12.9 36.4 64.4 -28

CSI 40.9 64.3 -23.4 54.2 65.8 -11.6 36.4 64.4 -28

CPS 337.6 367.2 -29.6 349.6 365.3 -15.8 346.7 369.0 -22.3

CYFARTHFA HIGH SCHOOL

Contextual Information
The school has a free school meal percentage (FSM) of 16.4, which places it in the Over 
15% and up to and including 20% group for benchmarking purposes.

The school has 26.3 percent of pupils living in the 20% most deprived areas in Wales.

Performance over time

2015/16Indicator 2011/12
School

2012/13
School

2013/14
School

2014/15 
School School LA Wales

3 year 
progress

L1TH 94.4 91.2 95.7 99.5 100 95.4 95.3 8.8

L2TH 72.1 74.8 83.4 92.1 94.4 84.5 84.0 19.6

L2TH+ 47.2 44.1 52.1 60.2 61.6 53.9 60.3 17.5

CSI 45.5 42.9 50.2 60.2 60.3 52.3 57.6 17.4

CPS 332.9 329.7 352.1 366.4 383.7 345.7 344.6 54.0

Page 24



Benchmarking

Indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
L1TH 3 4 3 1 1

L2TH 2 3 3 2 2

L2TH+ 4 4 3 2 2

CSI 3 4 4 2 2

CPS 2 3 3 1 1

Performance of groups of pupils – Gender

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16Indicator
Boys Girls Diff Boys Girls Diff Boys Girls Diff

L1TH 94.5 97.1 -2.6 99.2 100.0 -0.8 100 100 0

L2TH 77.1 90.2 -13.1 90.1 94.7 -4.7 92.3 97.1 -4.8

L2TH+ 45.9 58.8 -12.9 49.6 73.7 -24.1 52.3 73.5 -21.2

CSI 45.0 55.9 -10.9 49.6 73.7 -24.1 50.8 72.5 -21.8

CPS 340.3 364.6 -24.3 356.7 378.6 -21.8 375.9 393.7 -17.8

Performance of groups of pupils – FSM

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16Indicator
FSM Non 

FSM
Diff FSM Non 

FSM
Diff FSM Non 

FSM
Diff

L1TH 88.2 97.2 -9.0 100.0 99.5 0.5 100 100 0

L2TH 58.8 88.1 -29.3 79.4 94.5 -15.1 80.0 96.5 -16.5

L2TH+ 26.5 57.1 -30.6 41.2 63.7 -22.6 50.0 63.4 -13.4

CSI 26.5 54.8 -28.3 41.2 63.7 -22.6 50.0 61.9 -11.9

CPS 296.3 362.8 -66.5 339.6 371.3 -31.7 364.9 386.5 -21.6

PEN-Y-DRE HIGH SCHOOL

Contextual Information
The school has a free school meal percentage (FSM) of 34.7, which places it in the Over 
30% group for benchmarking purposes.
The school has 68.1 percent of pupils living in the 20% most deprived areas in Wales.

Performance over time

2015/16Indicator 2011/12
School

2012/13
School

2013/14
School

2014/15 
School School LA Wales

3 year 
progress

L1TH 74.7 91.7 95.9 99.1 100 95.4 95.3 8.3

L2TH 60.6 75.2 77.7 78.3 88.7 84.5 84.0 13.5

L2TH+ 16.2 33.1 33.9 39.1 52.6 53.9 60.3 19.5

CSI 16.2 24.8 27.3 25.2 48.5 52.3 57.6 23.7
Page 25



Indicator 2011/12
School

2012/13
School

2013/14
School

2014/15 
School

2015/16 3 year 
progressSchool LA Wales

CPS 268.6 316.0 328.3 327.9 345.4 345.7 344.6 29.4

Benchmarking

Indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
L1TH 4 2 2 1 1

L2TH 2 2 2 3 2

L2TH+ 4 3 3 3 2

CSI 4 4 3 4 2

CPS 3 2 2 2 2

Performance of groups of pupils – Gender

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16Indicator
Boys Girls Diff Boys Girls Diff Boys Girls Diff

L1TH 94.4 97.0 -2.6 98.4 100 -1.6 100 100 0

L2TH 68.5 85.1 -16.6 67.2 90.7 -23.5 83.3 92.7 -9.4

L2TH+ 20.4 44.8 -24.4 31.1 48.1 -17.0 50.0 54.5 -4.5

CSI 20.4 32.8 -12.4 23.0 27.8 -4.8 47.6 49.1 -1.5

CPS 305.0 347.1 -42.1 311.0 346.9 -35.9 328.8 358.1 -29.3

Performance of groups of pupils – FSM

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16Indicator
FSM Non 

FSM
Diff FSM Non 

FSM
Diff FSM Non 

FSM
Diff

L1TH 94.4 96.5 -2.1 100 98.6 1.4 100 100 0

L2TH 55.6 87.1 -31.5 70.7 82.4 -11.7 75.0 94.2 19.2

L2TH+ 8.3 44.7 -36.4 24.4 47.3 -22.9 28.6 62.3 -33.7

CSI 8.3 35.3 -27.0 12.2 32.4 -20.2 25.0 58.0 -33.0

CPS 281.4 348.2 -66.8 312.5 336.3 -23.8 320.0 355.7 -35.7

Page 26



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance of Groups of Pupils in 2015 to 2016

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to update the Council on the performance of groups of 
pupils in 2016

1.2 The performance of 
 boys and girls has improved
 pupils eligible for Free School Meals has improved
 pupils with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) is variable
 Children and Young People Looked After remains some way below that of all other 

pupils.
 pupils achieving above the expected level remains below national averages
 Ethnic minority pupils is variable
 Pupils with English as an additional language (EAL) is variable

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 the content of this report be discussed and noted.

3.0 WHERE WE WERE

3.1 At the time of the last inspection in November 2012 at all key stages, standards for 
learners were unsatisfactory. This included the performance of groups of pupils.

4.0 CURRENT POSITION: WHERE ARE WE NOW 2015 to 2016

4.1 Boys and girls

Date Written 04/01/2017
Report Author Emma Strand
Service Area Learning
Committee Date 27th February 2017

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



 At Foundation phase, the gender gap has decreased in the Foundation Phase 
Outcome Indicator, Language, literacy and Communication skills in English and in 
mathematical development. The gap in the other areas of learning has increased. 
The performance of both boys and girls is now at or above the national average 
in all areas of learning except in Personal and social development where boys 
perform slightly below the welsh average.

 At Key stage 2, the gender gap has reduced in all subjects. The performance of 
both boys and girls is now at or above the national average in all core subjects 
except in English and Science where girls perform below the Welsh average.

 At Key stage 3, the gender gap has increased in all core subjects except Science.  
The rate of progress for girls and boys is faster than at a national level in English 
where the performance of both groups is now above the national average.

 At Key stage 4, the gender gap has decreased in all key indicators except the 
Level 1 threshold where the gap has increased. The performance of boys has 
improved in all key indicators except the Level 1 threshold. The performance of 
girls decreased in all key indicators except the Capped points score. 

4.2 Pupils’ eligibility for Free School Meals (FSM)

 Pupils not eligible for FSM outperform pupils eligible for FSM at each key stage. 

 At Foundation phase, 75.7% of pupils eligible for FSM achieved the Foundation 
phase outcome indicator in 2016 compared with 92.8% of pupils not eligible for 
FSM.  The performance of pupils eligible for FSM decreased slightly while the 
performance of pupils not eligible for FSM improved therefore the gap has 
increased from 12.1% to 17.2%.  The performance of both groups of pupils is at 
or above national averages

 At Key stage 2, 76.1% of pupils eligible for FSM achieved the core subject 
indicator in 2016 compared with 93.0% of pupils not eligible for FSM.  The 
performance of both groups of pupils has increased in 2016; pupils not eligible for 
FSM have improved at a faster rate therefore the gap has increased by 1.6%. 
The performance of pupils not eligible for FSM within Merthyr Tydfil CBC is above 
the performance of those pupils nationally.

 At Key stage 3, 74.4% of pupils eligible for FSM achieved the core subject 
indicator in 2016 compared with 90.3% of pupils not eligible for FSM.  The 
performance of both groups of pupils has increased in 2016; pupils eligible for 
FSM have improved at a faster rate therefore the gap has narrowed by 5.4%. The 
performance of both groups of pupils is above national averages.

 At Key stage 4, 41.2% of pupils eligible for FSM achieved the level 2 threshold 
including English\Welsh and mathematics in 2016 compared with 62.6% of pupils 
not eligible for FSM. The performance of both groups of pupils has increased in 
2016; the performance of pupils eligible for FSM has improved at a faster rate 
therefore the gap has narrowed since 2015. The performance of pupils eligible for 
FSM within Merthyr Tydfil CBC is now above the performance of pupils eligible 
for FSM nationally.  The difference between the performance of pupils not eligible 

Page 28



for FSM within Merthyr Tydfil CBC and pupils not eligible for FSM nationally has 
reduced from 17.7% in 2012 to 4.2% in 2016.

4.3 Pupils achieving above the expected level

 At Foundation phase, the Merthyr Tydfil CBC average for pupils achieving 
outcome level 6+ increased in all areas of learning in 2016. The average for 
pupils achieving outcome level 6 or above was below the national average by 
between 0.4 to 5.5 percentage points in all areas of learning except Language, 
literacy and communication skills in Welsh first language, which exceeded the 
national average by 7.0 percentage points. Where performance was below the 
national average, the difference reduced in 2016.

 At Key stage 2, the Merthyr Tydfil CBC average for pupils achieving level 5 or 
above was below the national average by between 0.7 to 5.4 percentage points 
in the core subjects. The difference from the national average has decreased in 
all core subjects except Welsh first language.

 At Key stage 3, the Merthyr Tydfil CBC average for pupils achieving level 6 or 
above was below the national average by between 2.9 to 7.1 percentage points 
in the core subjects. The difference from the national average has decreased in 
all core subjects

 At key stage 4, 11.9% of pupils achieved 5 GCSEs grade A*-A or equivalent in 
2016, compared with 10.2% in 2015. Performance is 4.0 percentage points below 
the national average and when compared to other local authorities Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC is ranked 18th out of 22.

4.4 Pupils with Additional Learning Needs (ALN)

 Pupils with ALN are outperformed by pupils not identified with ALN  at all key 
stages.  National figures for 2016 are not yet available, and so outcomes have 
been compared to national figures for 2015.

 At Foundation phase, pupils identified as School Action (SA) within Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC perform better than pupils do nationally.  Those identified as School Action 
Plus (SA+) and who have a Statement of Special Educational Needs (SEN) do 
not perform as well as pupils nationally.  

 At Key stage 2, pupils identified as SA, SA+ and those with a Statement of SEN 
within Merthyr Tydfil CBC do not perform as well as those nationally.

 At Key stage 3, pupils identified as SA within Merthyr Tydfil CBC perform better 
than pupils do nationally.  However, pupils identified as SA+ and those with a 
Statement of SEN do not perform as well as those nationally.

 At Key stage 4, pupils identified as SA+ perform better than pupils nationally at 
the Level 2 Threshold including English/Welsh and mathematics, pupils at school 
action and those with a statement of SEN do not perform as well as pupils 
nationally.

Page 29



4.5 Children and Young People Looked After

 The performance of Children and Young People Looked After is variable due to 
the small numbers of pupils within the cohort.  However, the achievement levels 
of looked after children remain some way below that of all other pupils.

4.6 Ethnic minority pupils

 At the 2016 Pupil Level School Census (PLASC), 7.8% of the statutory school 
age population were from ethnic groups other than White British, of which the 
largest ethnic group was Polish (3.2%).  Due to the small number of pupils within 
each ethnic group performance is variable.

 At Foundation phase, pupils from ethnic groups other than White British make up 
7.9% of the cohort, 4.8% of which are Polish.  Overall pupils from a non-White 
British ethnic background do not achieve as well as pupils from a White British 
ethnic background. However, the performance of pupils from some ethnic groups 
is better than the performance of White British pupils at Foundation phase.  In 
2016, 85.3% of Polish pupils achieved the Foundation phase outcome indicator 
compared with 89.3% of white British pupils.

 At Key stage 2, pupils from ethnic groups other than White British make up 5.9% 
of the cohort, 3.5% of which are Polish.  Overall pupils from a non-White British 
ethnic background perform better than pupils from a White British ethnic 
background at key stage 2.  Polish pupils perform better than pupils from a White 
British background, with 93.8% of Polish pupils achieving the KS2 CSI compared 
to 89% of white British pupils.

 At Key stage 3, pupils from ethnic groups other than White British make up 6.2% 
of the cohort, 2.8% of which are Polish.  Overall pupils from a non-White British 
ethnic background do not achieve as well as pupils from a White British ethnic 
background.  The performance of Polish pupils is not as good with 81.3% of 
Polish pupils achieving the KS3 CSI compared with 86.9% of white British pupils.

 At Key stage 4, pupils from ethnic groups other than White British make up 6.4% 
of the cohort. Pupils from mixed and other ethnic backgrounds perform better 
than white British pupils at the Level 2 Threshold including English/Welsh and 
mathematics.

4.7 Pupils with English as an additional language (EAL)

 Pupils with EAL are in categories A (new to English) to E (Fluent) depending 
upon the stage of their language development.  There are small numbers of 
pupils within each category at each stage so performance is variable.

 At Foundation phase, pupils who are in category B do not perform as well as 
pupils who have English or Welsh as a first language.  All other pupils with EAL 
perform better than pupils who do not have EAL.

Page 30



 At Key stage 2, pupils who are in categories A and C do not perform as well as 
pupils who have English or Welsh as a first language.  All other pupils with EAL 
perform better than pupils who do not have EAL.

 At Key stage 3, pupils in categories B and C do not perform as well as pupils who 
have English or Welsh as a first language, all other pupils with EAL perform 
better than pupils who do not have EAL.

 At Key stage 4 in the Level 2 Threshold including English/Welsh and 
mathematics, pupils in category B and D do not perform as well as pupils who 
have English or Welsh as a first language, and all other pupils with EAL perform 
better than pupils who do not have EAL.

5.0 AMBITION: WHERE WE WANT TO BE

5.1 Our ambition is to be ranked within the top 10 local authorities in Wales by 2016. As 
a result of the rate of progress the targets have been increased for 2015/16 and 
2016/17.

6.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

6.1 The key priority is to evaluate and improve the provision for 
 pupils with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) 
 Children and Young People Looked After 

7.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

7.1 Improving the performance of groups of pupils contributes substantially to the 
capacity to achieve the corporate priority of raising standards of attainment.

DOROTHY HAINES
CHIEF OFFICER
LEARNING

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 

LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 31



Appendix 1
Glossary of Terms

Comparators
Family of
schools

Comparison between similar schools
A small group of schools that is similar because they face similar challenges.

Free School
Meals 
Benchmarking 
(FSM)

Comparison between similar  schools
A larger group of schools that is similar because they have a similar % of pupils 
in receipt of FSMs.
The bands are up to 10%, 10%-15%, 15%- 20%, 20%-30% above 30% for 
secondary.
The bands are up to 8%, 8%-16%, 16%-24%, 24%-32% above 32% for primary.

WAG Value 
Added 
Summary

Comparison between pupils’ prior and current attainment
An analysis of how well children perform relative to prior attainment.

Glossary
Foundation
phase

Nursery, reception and Years 1-2.

KS2 Key Stage 2 Years 3-6.
KS3 Key Stage 3 Years 7-9.
KS4 Key Stage 4 Years 10-11.
KS5 Key Stage 5 Years 12-13.
Level 4+ Expected level of attainment at the end of KS2.
Level 5+ Expected level of attainment at the end of KS3.
Level 6+ Expected level of attainment plus one level at the end of KS3.
CSI Core subject Indicator. To achieve the CSI children must attain level

5+ in English, mathematics and science.
Core subjects The core subjects are English, mathematics and science.
Foundatio
n subjects

The foundation subjects are all the other subjects other than the core subjects.

ATs Attainment Targets in English. These are oracy, reading and writing.
RWM Attainment at level 5+ in reading, writing and mathematics in combination.

RWM+S Attainment at level 5+ in reading, writing, mathematics and science in
combination.

FSM BMQ Free School Meal Benchmark Quarter position.  Attainment in a FSM
band is divided into 4 quarters, two above the median and two below the median.

WAG VA
summary

Welsh Assembly Government Value Added summary.  An indication of how well pupils 
perform compared to prior attainment and estimated performance.

Attainment Attainment in national tests, the qualifications that they gain.
Achievement Attainment measured against estimated performance based on prior attainment.

L1TH Volume of qualifications equivalent to 5 GCSE’s at A*-G.
L2TH Volume of qualifications equivalent to 5 GCSE’s at A*-C.
L2TH+ Volume  of  qualifications  equivalent  to  5  GCSE’s  at  A*-C  including

English and mathematics.
CWPS Capped Wider Points Score. The quality of qualifications attained across the 8 highest 

scoring GCSEs. Page 32



Civic Centre, Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan
Priority Area 1 - Raising Standards of Attainment

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were unsatisfactory with most key indicators below 

the Wales average.  In addition, Estyn judged the quality of self-evaluation in the local 
authority at the time of the inspection as unsatisfactory.

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2016), the current judgment for outcomes is adequate. Although 
standards in all key stages have improved consistently over four years, some 
outcomes at key stage 4 remain low.

1.3. Our ambition is for outcomes, provision, leadership and management to be excellent 
by 2017.  In order to attain excellence we need to improve standards of attainment and 
wellbeing so they are comparable with the 10 highest performing authorities in Wales.

2. RECOMMENDATION that
2.1. the judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

Date Written 20 February 2017

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 27 February 2017

Page 33

Agenda Item 6

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 National Context
All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 
exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

3.2 Council Vision
To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 
Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

3.3 Corporate Plan - Raising standards of attainment
The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority area 
Raising Standards of Attainment.  This priority area seeks to prioritise effort within the 
wide range of activities to have a strategic focus on attainment to achieve the outcome:

Children and young people in Merthyr Tydfil to reach their academic potential, and have 
the necessary skills to contribute as responsible citizens to their own development and 
that of the wider community

4. WHERE WE WERE

4.1 Raising Standards
In 2013 in Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were unsatisfactory with most key indicators below 
the Wales average.  In addition, Estyn judged the quality of self-evaluation in the local 
authority at the time of the inspection as unsatisfactory.

Key Indicators - actual
2012/13
MTCBC

2012/13
Wales

Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 77.8% 83.0%
Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator 81.2% 84.3%
Key stage 4 Level 2 plus 38.7% 52.7%
Key stage 4 Level 2 plus FSM 12.3% 25.8%
Key stage 4 Level 2 72.9% 77.8%
Key stage 4 Average Capped Points Score 322 333
Key stage 4 Leave education without a qualification 0.14% 0.31%
Primary pupil attendance 93.3% 93.7%
Secondary pupil attendance 93.3% 92.6%

Page 34



5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

5.1 Raising Standards
By 2017, we want attainment of children and young people in Merthyr Tydfil to be 
ranked within the top ten of local authorities in Wales.  To make the necessary 
improvements in standards we have set ambitious targets for the next two academic 
years.

Key Indicators- targets
2016/2017

MTCBC
2017/2018

MTCBC
Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 92.0% 93.0%
Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator 93.0% 93.0%
Key Stage 3 Core Subject Indicator 88.0% 90.0%
Key stage 4 Level 2 plus 62.0% 63.0%
Key stage 4 Level 2 plus FSM 35.0% 45.0%
Key stage 4 Level 2 90.0% 92.0%
Key stage 4 Average Capped Points Score 348 350
Key stage 4 Leave education without a qualification 0.00% 0.00%
Primary pupil attendance 96.0% 96.5%
Secondary pupil attendance 96.0% 96.5%

6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

6. 1 Raising Standards
In 2016 in Merthyr Tydfil, the current judgment for outcomes is adequate. Although 
standards in all key stages have improved consistently over four years, some outcomes 
at key stage 4 remain low including

 Level 2 threshold inclusive (equivalent to 5 GCSEs A*- C including English/Welsh 
and mathematics) 53.9% compared to the Welsh average of 60.3% and ranked 
19th 

 Core Subject Indicator (CSI) 52.3% compared to the Welsh average of 57.6% 
and ranked 18th

 5+ A*-A or equivalent 11.9% compared to the Welsh average of 15.9% and 
ranked 18th

In addition, value added from key stage 2 to key stage 4 is good overall but is not 
consistently good across all schools.

Page 35



(Value added is the measurement of the progress made by pupils between one stage of 
education to the next). 

The judgement for outcomes overall is no better than adequate because rates of 
attendance remain too low.

Key Indicators
2015/16

Merthyr Tydfil
RANK 2015/16

Wales
Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator 89.1% 5th 87.0%
Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator 89.2% 10th 88.6%
Key Stage 3 Core Subject Indicator 87.0% 10th 85.9%
Key stage 4 Level 2 plus 53.9% 19th 60.3%
Key stage 4 Level 2 plus FSM 41.2% NA 35.6%
Key stage 4 Level 2 84.5% 11th 84.0%
Key stage 4 Average Capped Points Score 345.7 NA 344.6
Key stage 4 Leave education without a 
qualification

0.0% NA 0.2%

Primary pupil attendance 94.2% 22nd 94.9%
Secondary pupil attendance 93.4% 19th 94.2%

7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

7.1 Reference to Initiatives
Specific initiatives were identified to be implemented alongside the ongoing drive for 
school improvement through Monitoring, Support, Challenge and Intervention.

(Full details in Appendix II)

 Basic Skills Strategy
 Level 2 Inclusive Strategy
 Leadership Development for Head Teachers

7.2 Lessons Learnt
The local authority has in place a robust and continuous self-evaluation process for its 
education services and knows itself and its schools well.  Local authority officers are 
using self-evaluation more effectively to identify performance targets and priorities for 
improvement to achieve excellence. The local authority approach to building capacity in 
schools and enabling schools to take responsibility and accountability for driving on 
school improvement is proving successful in raising standards. 

Page 36



8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

8.1. Following challenges from the Performance Board, five areas for improvement for 
learning were identified:

1. Parental Engagement
2. Performance of More Able and Talented pupils
3. School Governance and Governing Bodies
4. Collaboration
5. Corporate Support Services

In addition there is a focus on improving outcomes for pupils working at the expected 
level +1, with a new focus on improving on boy's attainment. 

8.2. Key priorities for improvement 
 Improve outcomes for vulnerable groups of pupils
 Improve attendance 
 Enable schools to improve levels of parental engagement by further identifying and 

sharing good practice. 
 Develop strategies to secure excellent leadership across all schools 
 Develop strategies to ensure governance in all schools is good or better 
 Complete the improvements in local authority ALN services 
 Ensure multi-agency collaboration through the Public Service Board is effective in 

identifying and unblocking barriers to improvement and in holding statutory 
partnerships to account

 Collaborate with other LAs to ensure effective, efficient and economical services.
 Ensure that the views of children, young people and their families are used to inform 

service delivery in all areas

9. THE WELLBEING DUTY (SSWB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act became law in Wales on 01 May 2014, 

which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver services to 
those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and support 
they receive. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 
29 April 2015, which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and 
cultural wellbeing of Wales.

9.2 Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
 Communicate the key messages of how the SSWB and WFG Act will affect staff in 

schools and in local authority learning services. 

Page 37



 Develop a shared understanding of how to adopt the 5 ways of working as set out in 
the WFG Act.

 Provide greater clarity around the purpose of pupil voice and develop its 
effectiveness in order to improve the robustness of wellbeing evidence for self-
evaluation.

 Contribute to the production of the wellbeing assessment by providing robust data 
and evidence and ensuring the lessons learned from Estyn are shared. 

 Develop a new long term strategy for Learning, which will centre on improving 
wellbeing based on the 7 wellbeing goals.

DOROTHY HAINES
CHIEF OFFICER: LEARNING

COUNCILLOR HARVEY JONES
PORTFOLIO: LEARNING

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17
 Self-Evaluation Report(s)
 Scrutiny Report(s)

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 38



Appendix I Data

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the expected level in the Foundation Phase

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 77.8 81.2 86.2 89.1 90.0 92.0 5th

Wales 83.0 85.2 86.8 87.0

(-5.2) (-4.0) (-0.6) (2.1) ()

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the Core Subject Indicator at Key Stage 2

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 81.2 84.2 87.4 89.2 90.0 93.0 10th

Wales 84.3 86.1 87.7 88.6

(-3.1) (-1.9) (-0.3) (0.6) ()

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the Core Subject Indicator at Key Stage 3

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 68.9 75.1 81.9 87.0 88.0 90.0 10th 

Wales 77.0 81.0 83.9 85.9
(-8.1) (-5.9) (-2) (1.1)

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the level 2 threshold including English or Welsh 
and mathematics

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 38.7 48.9 51.9 53.9 58.0 62.0 19th

Wales 52.7 55.4 57.9 60.3

(-14.0) (-6.5) (-6.0) (-6.4)

Page 39



TITLE The percentage of pupils eligible for free school meals who achieve the level 2 threshold 
including English or Welsh and mathematics

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 12.3 22.8 32.1 41.2 35.0 45.0 N/A

Wales 25.8 27.8 31.6 35.6

(-13.5) (-5.0) (0.5) (5.6) ()

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the level 2 threshold including vocational 
equivalents

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 72.9 82.0 85.4 84.5 88.0 90.0 11th

Wales 77.8 82.3 84.1 84.0

(-4.9) (-0.3) (1.3) (0.5) ()

TITLE The percentage of pupils who achieve the level 1

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 92.7 95.4 96.8 95.4 99 99 10th

Wales 93.2 94.0 94.4 95.3
(-0.5) (-1.4) (-2.4) (0.1)

TITLE The average capped wider points score

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 322 340 344 345.7 348 350 N/A

Wales 333 341 344 344.6

(-11) (-1) (0) (1.1) ()

Page 40



TITLE The percentage of pupils who leave compulsory education without an approved 
qualification

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 0.14 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A

Wales 0.31 0.32

(-0.17) (-0.32) () ()

TITLE The percentage of overall (half day sessions) pupil attendance in primary school

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 93.3 93.9 94.3 94.2 96.0 96.5 22nd

Wales 93.7 94.8 94.9 94.9

(-0.4) (-0.9) (-0.6) (-0.7) ()

TITLE The percentage of overall (half day sessions) pupil attendance in secondary school

Academic Year Performance Data Target Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

MT 93.3 92.9 93.1 93.4 96.0 96.5 19th 

Wales 92.6 93.6 93.8 94.2

(0.7) (-0.7) (-0.7) (-0.8) ()

Page 41



Appendix II Projects

PROJECT (A) Basic Skills Strategy

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION A key element of this outcome is to improve the literacy and numeracy 
skills of school pupils.  This project is about the delivery and monitoring 
of the Basic Skills Strategy, which has a principal focus on improvement 
in literacy and numeracy skills.  The project will also encompass the 
support to ensure each Basic Skills Manager has the training they need 
to achieve the aims of the project.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improvement in the literacy and numeracy skills of school pupils

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 January 2017

The impact of the Basic Skills Strategy

 Outcomes in FP, KS2 and KS3 were above the Welsh average 
at the end of 2016. 

 Schools have demonstrated their ability to routinely set targets, 
identify and address underperformance, target interventions and 
resources in order to improve standards.  There is evidence that 
improvements have been sustained and this strategy is now led 
and managed by the schools entirely.

Page 42



Back

PROJECT (B) Level 2 Threshold Strategy

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION This project is about head teachers and senior colleagues taking 
responsibility for the progress of their own schools and working with 
others to provide system leadership with specific improvements for all 
pupils at the end of secondary school in the level 2 inclusive measures 
(i.e. English or Welsh and mathematics).

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improvements for all pupils at the end of secondary school in the level 2 
inclusive measures

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 January 2017

Outcomes for Key Stage 4 at the end of 2016 demonstrate further 
improvements across all the key indicators for all pupils and for groups 
of pupils. School to school collaboration is well established. Targeted 
support from the local authority is reducing and is now focused on 
ensuring all senior and middle leaders have the skills to drive on school 
improvement.

Page 43



Back

PROJECT (C) Leadership Development for Head Teachers

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION This project comprises a suite of programmes for personal and 
leadership development for aspiring and existing Head Teachers.  This 
includes a collaboration with Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Central South 
Consortium

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improvement of leadership  in schools

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 January 2017

Most of the participants in the Aspiring Leaders programmes have been 
successful in securing headships in MTCBC and in other local 
authorities.  Two headteachers are now providing support across other 
schools either as an executive headteacher or through outreach work.
The quality of leadership and management has improved across 
schools as evidenced in both improved outcomes in 2016 and through 
Estyn inspections. 

Six headteachers have completed the Consultant Headship programme 

The majority of Merthyr schools have been involved in SIG working, 27 
out of 28 Merthyr schools are involved in school improvement groups 
(SIGs) and during 2015/16 SIGs including Merthyr schools have 
focused on: literacy, numeracy, teaching and pedagogy, pupil voice, 
ICT and digital curriculum framework and assessment. SIGs are 
reviewed annually and have to provide a report on their priorities and 
impact against their priorities twice a year in order to be funded.

Three Merthyr schools have engaged in the peer enquiry programme, 
which supports Headteachers working in triads to review and evaluate 
focus areas in each school and then providing a detailed report on the 
strengths and areas for improvement.

The consortium has invested heavily in leadership provision in the 
2015/16 year. This has included opportunities to support another school 
with leadership capacity or coaching, leadership of school to school 
provision and direct leadership programmes.
 4 Headteachers have undertaken the New to Headship programme;

Page 44



Back

PROJECT (D) Improving outcomes for pupils working at the expected level +1, with a 
new focus on improving on boy's attainment.

PROJECT MANAGER Chief Officer: Learning

DESCRIPTION A key element of this outcome is to improve the literacy skills of boys 
across the authority.  This project is about training literacy leads across 
the authority to deliver literacy units of work that focus on improving the 
outcomes for boys and pupils working at the expected level +1.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improving the outcomes for boys and pupils working at the expected 
level +1

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 January 2017

The local authority has commissioned a borough wide programme for 
literacy coordinators to improve the literacy skills of boys across the 
authority.  A key element of the programme is joint training and 
developing of best practice.  The impact will be evaluated in July 2017.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 

prepare in advance for the next scrutiny committee meeting. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 

deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.  

 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 

and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions. 
 
Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 
and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 

Date Written 20th February 2017 
Report Author Scrutiny Section 
Service Area Legal & Governance Services 
Committee Division Scrutiny  
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 27th February 2017 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 
difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 

f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 
resources? 

 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue  

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue 
 

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the corporate plan / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 
Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police,  Health Board etc 

 
Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 
Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 

and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 
 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 

You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 

Page 48



community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
3.3 Just so the scrutiny committees are aware the Council has seven key priorities as 

per the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment. 
 
These seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes and each of the 4 
Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of them. The 4 themes are:- 

 

• Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning)  
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services) 
Social Services Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside) 
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee 

 

• Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection) 
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee 

 
3.4 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 

have been developed each reflects the Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives. 

 
3.5  Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the Council’s 

corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny committees in 
this role. See appendix I for the “strategies of a page” 
 

3.6 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached. 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 49



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 50



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 51



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 52



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 53



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 
Committee Learning and LAESCYP 

Date / Timing Overarching 
Item 

Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member 

 (Other) Scrutiny Focus  

20th June 2016 

Pupil 
Outcomes 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Education of Looked After Children 
 

Pupil 
Outcomes 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Attendance and Exclusions 
 

Performance Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan. 
*Appendix = Draft Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge. 
 

12th September 2016 

Pupil 
Outcomes 

Cllr H Jones /  
DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Flying start outcomes 
 

Provisional 
Examination 
results. 
 

Cllr H Jones /  
DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  A report providing the provisional results for all key stages for 
Merthyr Tydfil Schools 
 

Commissionin
g the 

consortium 

Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

Hannah 
Woodhous
e and Cllr 

David 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
A report detailing the current effectiveness and shortcomings of the consortium in 
relation to the recent Estyn inspection Plus a review of the CSC business plans for the 
short and long term.   
 

31st October 2016 

Leadership 
 

DH/Cllr H 
Jones 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
SER KQ 3.3  Partnership working  
SER KQ 3.4 Resource management 
 
 
 

P
age 54



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

Service Level 
Agreements  

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
At the 25th January 2016 meeting, the committee wanted to monitor:- The 
consultation with the Unions and the feedback  as far as the lunches and breakfast 
clubs is concerned; and the educational inclusion SLA and the feedback from the 
schools forum; and the impact these have on the local authority and the schools 
 

Performance Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan. 
 
Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities 
from the Performance Board challenge. 
 

5th December 2016 

Schools 
Attendance At 

Scrutiny 
 

Cllr HJ, DH, 
Head & Chair 
of Governors 

Schools 
 

 Scrutiny & Challenge :  
Attendance by the headteacher and chair of governors of Afon Taf High School.   

Estyn Local 
Authority Link 

Inspector 
(LALI) Visit 

 

DH/Cllr HJ  Scrutiny & Challenge:- To receive feedback from the Chief Education Officer on the 
Estyn Local Authority Link Inspector (LALI) visit in September/Oct 2016 
 

School 
organisation  

  

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Report on school organisation framework and surplus places and 21st Century 
Schools programme. SER KQ 2.4  Access and school places  
 

School 
Improvement 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
SER KQ 2.1 Support for School Improvement 
 

23rd January 2017 
 

Wellbeing 
 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Wellbeing 
SER KQ1 1.2 Wellbeing SER KQ 2.3  Promoting social inclusion and wellbeing 

Pupils with   Scrutiny & Challenge:-  

P
age 55



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

ALN Provision for pupils with ALN 
SER KQ2 2.2 Support for additional learning needs   

Central South 
Consortium  

Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

Hannah 
Woodhous
e and Cllr 

David 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
A report to scrutiny on standards cross the CSC and in Merthyr. This is part of a 
programme to report to all 5 LA’s across the consortium area. 
 

Leadership   Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
SER KQ 3.1 Leadership including governance 

SER KQ 3.2  Improving quality 
 

27th February 2017 
 

Pupil 
outcomes 

  Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
SER  KQ1 1:1 Standards 
 

Self-evaluation   Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
Summary SER 
 

Performance Cllr H Jones / 
EMcW / DH 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 1 Report.  An update on progress implementing the 
Corporate Plan. 
Service Performance Report (Learning). An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities 
from the Performance Board challenge. 
*Appendix = Performance Board update.  An synopsis from the Performance Board. 
 

17th March 2017 
 
 

Troedyrhiw 
Primary School 

Visit to School 6 Committee 
members 

max 

The aim of the visit would be to get an insight and understanding of the good 
features of the school, any challenges that the school is facing, and any good practice 
that could be shared with other schools. The Committee is keen to understand how 
both the school and the local authority have made good progress together; and if 
there are any issues you would like to highlight. The meeting shouldn’t last more 
than an hour or so and there will be a maximum of about six committee members in 
attendance. 
 

17th April 2017 
Schools 

Attendance At 
Scrutiny 

Cllr HJ, DH, 
Head & Chair 
of Governors 

 Scrutiny & Challenge :  
Attendance by the headteacher and chair of governors of XX School. The meeting will 
involve a 15 minute presentation by the school focusing on the good features and the 

P
age 56



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 
Possible focus for a task and finish group 

• Committee needs to engage with the secondary schools and the college as the County Borough is losing pupils to RCT; and about a 
borough wide learning together initiative. This follows information received at Chair attendance at Service Challenge Sessions (Self 
Evaluation)  

• Review of what the Authority and Schools are providing in relation to ALN across the County Borough. To include the role of 
Greenfield Special school 

For future consideration (some need to be taken off) 
 

To be confirmed (in 
addition to June 
2015) 

Adult, MIA, 
Community 
Learning & 
Communities 
First 
 

LB, DH, Lead 
HOS & Cllr 

BC 

Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 

Information & Overview : A brief outline of key LAESCYP and Education issues 
currently delivered by Social Regeneration and an opportunity to scope out how the 
new committee will address issues. 

To be confirmed 

Merthyr Youth 
Forum / Cabinet 
 

DH/LPL Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 

To meet with the Merthyr youth forum / cabinet, inviting them to give us an insight 
on how they see their role, achievements, how they perceive opportunities for the 
youth of Merthyr Tydfil etc. 
 

To be confirmed 
Nursery 
Admissions 

AL Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 
Issues 

Scrutiny & Challenge : A report updating committee on progress towards 
reconfiguring the funding and delivery of nursery provision to meet statutory 
requirements and defining sufficiency 

 Schools 
 

challenges that the school is facing. The Committee will also be asking the local 
authority officers how they identified what, if anything, was needed at the school 
and how the school responded. The Committee is also keen to understand how both 
the school and the local authority have made good progress together. 
 

Central South 
Consortium 
Update of 
progress in 

meeting 
ESTYN 

Recommendat
ions 

DH Hannah 
Woodhous

e of CHC 

Scrutiny & Challenge :  
At the 12th September 2016 meeting HW suggested that the committee may wish to 
have a regular update on the CSC’s progress in addressing the ESTYN 
recommendations following the inspection of the CSC – report dated February 2016. 
This could be in the form of a briefing note for the Committee. 

P
age 57

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Central%20South%20Consortium_0.pdf


Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 

To be confirmed 

Home To 
Schools 
Transport 
 

AL Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 
Issues 

Information & Overview : A report updating committee on progress towards 
reconfiguring the funding and delivery of HTST 

To be confirmed 

Learning 
Support 
Assistant 
Review 
 

 Pre Scrutiny & 
Follow Up 
Issues 

Information & Overview : A report detailing the outcomes of a review of the 
appropriateness of the current service level agreements with schools in relation to 
LSAs 

To be confirmed 

Effectiveness of 
Governors 

GW/DH Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 
 

Information & Overview : To have sight of the Governors survey. How effective are 
Governors in the overall school improvement. 

To be confirmed 

Human 
Resources 
Department 
Restructuring.  
 

 Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 

Information & Overview : Impact of restructure on schools i.e. better service; school 
improvement 

To be confirmed 
 

School Budgets 
(Afon Taf High 
School) 

 School 
Budgets 

Information & Overview: Meeting 7th September 2015. Afon Taf High School 
overspent against its plan in year 1 by £60k and closed the financial year-end £342k in 
deficit. Internal audit are currently reviewing the current financial position of Afon Taf 
High School and the reasons for their large financial deficit. The committee has asked 
for sight of the report when it is available. 
 

To be confirmed 
 
 

Free School 
Meals 
(attainment) 
 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview : Meeting 7th September 2015. Meeting with CSC. One of the 
areas for improvement  “A sharper pace and urgency to focus on the achievement of 
children claiming free school meals in particular across the region, so that they 
achieve accelerated improvement against their peers”. Need to follow up on this at a 
future meeting with the CSC and the Chief Education Officer. What is the CSC doing to 
support this LEA? 
 

To be confirmed 
 

School Balances  School 
Budgets 
 

Information & Overview: The committee requires a report on school balances with 
reference to the likely pressures on school balances in the coming financial years. 

To be confirmed Effectiveness of  Pupil Information & Overview: The software system Capita One provides management 

P
age 58



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 Capita 1 system  
 

Outcomes information systems for local authorities to for example measure attendance, provide 
attainment figures (trends etc), safeguarding etc. An update on the effectiveness of 
the system is required. 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Loss of Pupils to 
RCT schools 

 Pupil 
Outcome 

Information & Overview:  Committee needs to engage with the secondary schools 
and the college as the County Borough is losing pupils to RCT; and about a borough 
wide learning together initiative. This follows information received at Chair 
attendance at Service Challenge Sessions (Self Evaluation) 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Additional 
Learning Needs 
 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview: The committee requires an update report on what the 
Authority and Schools are providing in relation to ALN across the County Borough. 

To be confirmed  
 

Absenteeism  Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview: A report providing levels of school absenteeism, to include 
comparison with like schools and the development of any procedures to raise 
attendance. Top also meet with a member of the Absenteeism Group. 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Do schools 
receive Internal 
Audit Reports? 
Do they discuss 
with the 
Governing 
Bodies 

 Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance 

Information & Overview: This suggestion emanated from the Audit Committee on 9th 
November (Cllr’s Clive Jones / Kate Moran). Is there general access to schools minutes 
and agenda’s  

To be confirmed  
 

B Squared 
Assessment 
Software and 
Capita 1 System 

 Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance 

Information & Overview:  At the 30/11/2015 meeting committee informed that B 
Squared Assessment Software has not been introduced in schools as yet. This 
software package will assist with collation and production of data / information in 
relation to Provision for ALN Pupils. An update is required as to whether this software 
is now being introduced / purchased. 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Greenfield 
School -t 
capacity 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview:  At the 30/11/2015 meeting committee informed 
Greenfield School is at capacity. As such are other Schools struggling with resources, 
are there more children in mainstream schools. 
 

To be confirmed  
 

Invite SENCO’s 
to a Scrutiny 
meeting 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Information & Overview:  Following the 30/11/2015 meeting. To get an 
understanding of the work they do and their experiences of working with Local 
Authority. 

P
age 59



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 
To be confirmed in 
new Work 
Programme for 
2016/17. Placed as 
standing item for 
time being. 
 

Performance 
Board – 
Learning report 
25th January 

 Performance Report recommendation is “Scrutiny to schedule a reoccurring agenda item in their 
forward work programme to monitor the delivery of the agreed action points detailed 
in this report.” 

To be confirmed in 
new Work 
Programme for 
2016/17 

Service Level 
Agreements 

 Pupil 
Outcomes 

Scrutiny and review:- Suggested by the Chair. Following the 25th January 2016 
meeting, the committee still wants to monitor consultation with the unions re lunches 
and breakfast clubs, and also the educational inclusion and the feedback from the 
schools forum and the schools themselves; and the impact for the local authority and 
the schools. 
 

To be confirmed NEETS  Wider 
LAESCYP 
Services 
 

NEETs going to scrutiny after the Destination Survey for 2015 is published, as the 
department would then be in a position to report on Merthyr’s performance in 
comparison to the rest of Wales.  
 
The Department (Chris Hole) highlight the following themes to Scrutiny so that it is 
able to explore further as the coming year progresses, especially as there is a general 
awareness of the improvements seen in recent years to the overall NEETs figure  with 
a continued  decrease in young people identified as NEET which for 2015 is  1.6% as 
previously reported.    
 
 Key messages/themes 
 

1. The council currently has access to the Merthyr Tydfil pre-release data for 
2015. The full report is due to be published in the spring of this year however 
no set date is currently available. When published this will enable the 
authority to benchmark its current performance against the rest of Wales.  
 

2. However through local analysis  of trend data for the past 3 years (2013 - 
2015)  
 

a.  An increasing number of young people are staying on in education, 
however significant increases have been seen in young people opting 

P
age 60



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

for school 6th forms outside of Merthyr Tydfil (excluding Greenfield) 
b.  Whilst the number of young people  classified as unable to take up a 

post 16 provision is small, Mental Health issues are identified as the 
prevailing factor   (in 2015 70% of the current 10  unable to access 
provision)  

c. After initial progress  there has been a significant reduction in young 
people securing apprenticeships  
 

3. A further theme not covered by the Destination survey  but requiring 
exploration in the coming year is the retention of young people by sector 
(Work based Learning, Tertiary College etc.) once they have taken up a 
progression route after leaving school  

 
These suggested  themes would  give some clear priorities  for future 
scrutiny  meetings  within what is a fairly wide partnership agenda.  
 

To be confirmed Surplus Places  Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance 

Scrutiny and review:- Report of what impact this will have on schools in the future 
and how it will impact on funding allocation. 

To be confirmed Schools Budget 
Formula / 
Schools funding 
formula 
 

 Pupil 
Outcomes / 
Governance 

Scrutiny and review: - This is an ongoing issue as far as this scrutiny committee is 
concerned which has not been addressed satisfactorily to date.  

To be confirmed 
(agreed at 20th June 
2016 meeting) 

   • Invite the LAESCYP Monitoring Group to a future meeting. 
• Arrange School visits for the Committee when required to those schools 

where scrutiny can make an impact. 
• Attendance training and impact of the SLA’s. What are schools  doing 

themselves?  
• Impact on SLA’s.  
• Expectations and attainment of Looked after Children. 
• Impact of Capita One, e.g. now that it is imbedded is it capturing the right 

data that schools and the LEA needs, is it more effective? 
• Confirmation when GCSE Results are being included on the Forward Work 

Programme. September meeting? 

P
age 61



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

• Industrial Relations with the Education Department.    
• HR SLA’s to be included in the Forward Work Programme for September. 
• LAC placed out of county do better than those in county. Why? Theresa is 

collating data so the Department can drill down. When data analysed it will 
come to scrutiny 

TBC Merthyr Youth 
Forum / 
Cabinet  

DH/CH  Information & Overview :  
To meet with the Merthyr youth forum / cabinet, inviting them to give us an 
insight on how they see their role, achievements, how they perceive 
opportunities for the youth of Merthyr Tydfil etc. Listening To Young People/ 
Youth Engagement and Progression 
 

TBC Leadership 
Capacity - 
Identifying and 
developing 
Leaders / 
Leadership 
skills within 
Schools  

DH Governance in 
Schools 

Information & Overview :  
At the meeting on 12th September Hannah Woodhouse from the CSC suggested that 
this may be an area that the scrutiny committee may wish to monitor i.e. ensuring 
that there is Leadership capacity in the LEA is identified and developed. What is the 
LEA doing in this area?  
 

TBC Action Points 
following 
Learning & 
LAESCYP 
Performance 
Board meeting 
Nov 2015. 
Update on item 
1) for this 
meeting 
 
 
 
 
 

DH, Sarah 
Bowen 

Pupil 
Outcomes 

Scrutiny and Challenge: At the last Learning & LAESCYP Performance Board 5 areas 
for improvement were identified – 1) Parental Engagement (Lead Officer Sarah 
Bowen); 2) More Able and Talented Pupils (Dorothy Haines); 3) Governance & 
Governing Bodies (Dorothy Haines); 4) Collaboration (Dorothy Haines); and 5) 
Corporate Support Services (Glynis Estabanez). (These were identified in the 
Performance Board report to Learning & LAESCYP meeting on 25th January 2016). 
Numbers 1 to 4 managed by the L&L scrutiny committee; and 5) by the Governance 
Scrutiny Committee. Above suggested by Cllr P. Williams. 
 
From 22nd February 2016 

P
age 62



Learning and LAESCYP (Local Authority Education Services for Children and Young People) Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

(Work programme Version August 2016) 
 

 
As per text 

Visits to Primary 
Schools in 
County Borough 

Committee 
Task and 
Finish Group 
(email DH 16th 
November 2016) 

Pupil 
outcomes 

1. Troedyrhiw Primary Community School   (After 23rd January / before 17th February 2017) 
2. Ysgol Gymraeg Rhyd-Y-Grug                       (Mid to late March 2017) 
 

TBC Greenfield 
School 

 Pupil numbers Greenfield School is reaching capacity. With secondary / primary schools if 
capacity reached they are able to transfer to other schools. This is not the case 
with Greenfield due the support provided there. The committee wishes to keep an 
eye on any capacity issues. (December 2016 meeting suggestion) 
 

TBC 21st Century 
Schools 

 School builds At the Dec 2016 meeting the committee heard from the Head and Chair of 
Governors that the school had no or very little say about the school build / 
alterations, when it should have. Eg. No cloak room to hang up coats – children 
carrying coats class to class, colour of classrooms (pained white – dirty very 
quickly). Whilst they raised their concerns, they were not listened to. Lesson for 
furture / committee to keep an eye on. 
 

 

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Summary of judgments in the Self Evaluation Report
	4 Key Stage 4 Standards 2015 to 2016
	5 Performance of Groups of Pupils in 2015 to 2016
	6 Performance Report - Corporate Plan. Priority Area 1 - Raising Standards of Attainment
	9 Scrutiny Work Programme
	Work Programme Report
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND


	Strategies on a Page
	4 Learning__LAESCYP_descriptors


